ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Showers unlawfully
possessed either charged controlled substance (heroin and
methamphetamine).

2. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Showers constructively
possessed the contents of backpacks found in the bed of a red Dodge
pickup truck parked in the neighborhood near where he was arrested.

3. The convictions were based in part on evidence illegally obtained in
violation of Mr. Showers's right to be free from unreasonable searches
and seizures under the Fourth Amendment and his right to privacy
under Wash. Const. art. I, § 7.

4. The police unlawfully searched backpacks found in the bed of a
pickup truck which they believed Mr. Showers had been driving
before his arrest in a coffee shop nearby.

5. The backpack search was not justified as a search incident to arrest.

6. The backpack search was not justified by Mr. Showers's community
custody status.

7. Mr. Showers's conviction was based in part on improper opinion
testimony, in violation of his right to an independent jury
determination of the facts.

8. The trial court erred by admitting improper opinions of Mr. Showers's
guilt.

9. Mr. Showers was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the
effective assistance of counsel.

10. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to seek suppression of items
obtained through an illegal search.

11. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper opinion
testimony on Mr. Showers's guilt.

12. The convictions were entered in violation of the state constitutional

requirement that facts in a felony trial be determined by a jury.



13. The trial court erred by accepting Mr. Showers's jury waiver without
an affirmative showing that he understood all of his rights under Wash.
Const. art. I, § 21 and § 22.

14. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 1.

15. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 5.

16. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 6.

17. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No.7.

18. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 9.

19. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 10.

20. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 11.

21. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 12.

22. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 13.

23. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 14.

24. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 16.

25. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 18.

26. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 19.

27. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 20.

28. The trial court erred in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2.

29. The trial court erred in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 3.

30. The trial court erred in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 4.

31. The trial court erred in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 5.

32. The trial court erred in adopting Conclusion of Law No. 6.
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ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The prosecution was required to prove that Mr. Showers
possessed items found in a backpack in the bed of a pickup
truck. At trial, the state failed to establish dominion and control

over the backpack or its contents. Was the evidence
insufficient for conviction?

2. Evidence seized without a warrant is inadmissible at trial,

unless the prosecution establishes an exception to the warrant
requirement. In this case, police arrested Mr. Showers in a
coffee shop, and then searched a pickup truck on the belief that
he'd been driving it prior to his arrest. Did the trial court err by
admitting illegally seized evidence in violation of Mr.
Showers's rights under the Fourth Amendment and Wash.
Const. art. I, § 7?

3. A warrantless probation search is permitted based on
reasonable suspicion that the probationer has violated a
condition of sentence, but only if there is probable cause to
associate the probationer with the area to be searched. Here,
the police searched backpacks discovered in the bed of a truck
which they believed Mr. Showers had been driving, without
any evidence that the backpacks belonged to him. Did the
search violate Mr. Showers's rights under the Fourth
Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, § 7?

4. A "nearly explicit" opinion on an accused person's guilt
violates the person's constitutional right to an independent
determination of the facts by the fact - finder. In this case
witnesses were permitted to testify that Mr. Showers drove
recklessly. Did the opinion testimony violate Mr. Showers's
right to an independent determination of the facts, in violation
of the Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause?

5. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an accused
person the effective assistance of counsel. In this case, defense
counsel failed to seek suppression of illegally seized evidence,
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and failed to object to improper opinion testimony. Was Mr.
Showers denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to
the effective assistance of counsel?

6. An accused person's state constitutional right to a jury trial is
broader and more highly valued than the corresponding federal
right. Here, the record does not affirmatively demonstrate that
Mr. Showers understood his right to help select the jury, his
right to have the jury instructed on the presumption of
innocence and the burden of proof, and his right to a
unanimous verdict on each charge and aggravating factor. In
the absence of such an affirmative showing, was Mr. Showers's
waiver of his right to a jury trial inadequate under Wash.
Const. art. I, § 21 and § 22?

F.



STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

William Showers was arrested at a coffee shop called "One Moore

Cup." RP 23, 85. He had an arrest warrant, and police believed he'd been

the driver of a red Dodge pickup truck that was found in the middle of the

street nearby. RP 8 -9, 21.

City of Raymond Reserve Police Officer Eric Fuller had earlier

seen the pickup, noticed that it didn't have a front license plate and that

the windshield was cracked. RP 7, 8, 27 -28. When Fuller tried to stop

the pickup, the driver ran a stop sign and pulled up onto a curb. RP 8. A

blonde woman got out of the truck, with a baseball cap pulled down over

her brows, and walked away quickly. RP 8 -9.

The truck pulled away fast, and Officer Fuller turned on his lights

and gave chase. RP 9 -10. The truck continued speeding, fishtailing at

times. RP 11 -12. The truck stopped, facing the opposite direction of

traffic, then again pulled away fast. RP 13. Fuller could not tell who was

driving or how many people were in the truck. RP 13, 30.

1 Citations to the trial, which occurred on September 4, 2012, will be RP. Any citations to
other volumes of transcript will include the date.

Z She was later identified as Jolene Anderson. RP 9.
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Pacific County Sheriff s Deputy Jon Ashley arrived and motioned

for the truck to pull over. RP 14. The truck didn't stop, but made turns

and ran another stop sign. RP 14 -16.

A juvenile was picking up garbage in the alleyway and was pulled

out of the way by his father as the truck sped through. RP 16 -18, 41 -44.

The father said that he saw the driver. RP 44.

Both officers lost sight of the truck at this point. RP 20. They

later found it stopped in the middle of a street, unoccupied. RP 21. After

Mr. Showers was arrested at the coffee shop nearby, Community

Corrections Officer Linda Tolliver came and searched the truck and the

truck's bed. RP 64 -66, 86. No items related to Mr. Showers were found

inside the truck's cab. RP 25. The truck bed contained at least three

backpacks and a duffle bag. RP 25, 73. One of the backpacks contained

heroin. RP 29, 70 -71, 90, 110. Also found in the truck's bed were scales,

bolt cutters, needles, small plastic bags, a pipe, methamphetamine, and

keys for vehicles. RP 66, 69 -72, 86, 88.

The state charged Mr. Showers with Possession of Heroin with

Intent to Deliver, Possession of Methamphetamine, and Attempting to

Elude a Pursuing Police Vehicle. CP 1 -4. To each count, the prosecutor

added the allegations that the standard range would be clearly too lenient,

and that Mr. Showers's high offender score would result in some offenses

no



going unpunished. CP 2 -4. In addition, the state averred that the eluding

charge endangered one or more persons. CP 3.

Prior to trial, Mr. Showers signed a form captioned "Waiver of

Jury Trial." Supp. CP. The judge reviewed the form with Mr. Showers

as follows:

THE COURT: Mr. Showers, I know Mr. Hatch reviewed this with

you but I'm asking you at this time, the Waiver of Jury Trial means
that you're giving up your constitutional right to have 12 people sit
over there to your left and decide whether to acquit you or whether
to find you guilty of the crime that the State has charged. You're
giving up that right and if I find that you're doing this knowingly,
intelligently, and voluntarily and I certify this, then in very plain,
simple vernacular, you're stuck with me or whichever judge hears
that case. It's a one -way street. I know you know this. I'm just
making sure that is what your understanding is at this present time.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Very well. And are you in agreement with the
Waiver of Jury Trial?

THE DEFENDANT: I am.

THE COURT: Did you sign it only after you reviewed it with your
attorney so you were certain you knew what you were signing?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Very well. Thank you. Did you sign of your own
free will?

THE DEFENDANT: I did.

THE COURT: Any threats or coercion?

THE DEFENDANT: No.
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THE COURT: Very well.

RP (8/31/12) 2 -3.

The defense attorney added that he had discussed the decision to

waive jury with Mr. Showers over the course of three weeks. RP

8/31/12) 3. No details were provided regarding their discussions.

At trial, the man who saw the driver in the alleyway was asked if

the driver was in the courtroom. He responded that he did not see him

there. RP (9/4/12) 44. Off -duty Officer Heath Layman testified that he

saw the red truck that day and that Mr. Showers was the driver. RP

9/4/12) 50 -51. However, he did not know if the driver had facial hair,

what he may have been wearing, and whether he was bald. RP (9/4/12)

56. A fireman saw the truck drive off -road through a park. He claimed

that the person driving "looked very much like the man sitting right there

Mr. Showers] ", and that "it could be the person sitting over there ". RP

9/4/12) 32 -34. He did not remember if the driver wore a hat, what the

driver was wearing, whether or not he wore glasses. RP (9/4/12) 38.

During trial, the prosecutor asked Fuller about the driving that he

observed:

Q. Is that a safe maneuver?
A. No.

Q. Okay. Would you characterize that kind of driving as reckless?
A. Recklessly, absolutely.
Q. Thank you.

3



RP (9/4/12) 12.

Defense counsel did not object to this testimony. RP (9/4/12) 12.

Fuller was also asked to opine about a safe speed for the alley (20 mph),

and whether or not the boy in the alley was in danger. RP (9/4/12) 18.

Over defense objection, the officer answered that the juvenile was in fact

in danger. RP (9/4/12) 18 -19. He also stated that the truck was traveling at

35 -40 mph through the alley, when a safe speed would have been 10 -15

mph. RP (9/4/12) 20.

The prosecutor asked off -duty Officer Layman the following:

Q: [A] s a trained law enforcement officer, did it appear to you that
that was being driven in a reckless manner?

A: Oh, absolutely.

RP (9/4/12) 52 -53.

Deputy Ashley was asked if the driving he saw was "reckless ". He

responded "Absolutely ". RP (9/4/12) 80.

Deputy Ashley described the amount of heroin found as quite

large, and the state asked him why a person would buy such a large

amount. RP (9/4/12) 92, 98. Over defense objection, he stated that a

person has this amount to break it into smaller amounts and sell it. RP

9/4/12) 98.

E



Judge Sullivan found Mr. Showers guilty as charged. CP 10. He

also found that Mr. Showers had endangered another during his attempt to

elude, and that his multiple current offenses and high offender score would

result in some current offenses going unpunished. CP 10. He specifically

relied on the officers' opinions regarding the speed of the truck and the

amount of the heroin. Finding of Fact 6, CP 6.

Mr. Showers timely appealed. CP 26 -27.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THAT MR. SHOWERS POSSESSED

EITHER CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE.

A. Standard of Review.

Evidence is insufficient for conviction if no rational fact - finder

could find the elements proven beyond a reasonable doubt, even when

viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the state. State v.

Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. 895, 899, 282 P.3d 117 (2012) review denied,

176 Wn.2d 1003, 297 P.3d 67 (2013). When a case is tried to the bench, a

reviewing court must determine if the evidence supports the court's

findings of fact, 3 if the findings support the conclusions of law, and if the

3 The court's findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence. State v. Homan, 172
Wn. App. 488, 490, 290 P.3d 1041 (2012). Although review is for substantial evidence, the
evidence must be stronger than would be sufficient to prove facts by a preponderance of the
evidence. See In re C.B., 61 Wn. App. 280, 285 -86, 810 P.2d 518 (1991).
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conclusions of law support the judgment . State v. Enlow, 143 Wn. App.

463, 467, 178 P.3d 366 (2008).

B. Dominion and control over a vehicle is insufficient to prove
dominion and control over every item within the vehicle.

To prove constructive possession, the state must show dominion

and control over an object and "the ability to reduce [it] to actual

possession." Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. at 899. Dominion and control are

assessed under the totality of the circumstances. Enlow, 143 Wn. App. at

468 -69. Mere proximity to contraband is insufficient to prove

constructive possession. Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. at 899.

By itself, dominion and control over a vehicle is insufficient to

prove dominion and control over items inside the vehicle. State v.

Shumaker, 142 Wn. App. 330, 334, 174 P.3d 1214 (2007). For example,

in Shumaker, the defendant's conviction was overturned because the trial

court erroneously instructed jurors that dominion and control over

premises— in that case, a car — proved constructive possession of drugs

found therein. Id. The court held that dominion and control over the

4 The conclusions of law and finding of guilt are reviewed de novo. Homan, 172 Wn. App.
at 490.
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vehicle alone was insufficient to prove dominion and control over the

drugs. Id.

Similarly, evidence is insufficient to establish constructive

possession when the accused had been a passenger in a truck containing

contraband. State v. Cote, 123 Wn. App. 546, 550, 936 P.3d 410 (2004).

This was so in Cote even though the defendant's fingerprints were on a

container holding the contraband

C. The court's findings of fact were insufficient to support the legal
conclusion that Mr. Showers possessed items found in the bed of
the truck.

In support of its conclusion that Mr. Showers was in possession of

contraband, the trial court found:

Mr. Showers was the lone occupant of the pickup truck. Given the
totality of the circumstances of the elude [sic], flight from the
vehicle, manor [sic] in which the vehicle was controlled, the fact
that Mr. Showers was the lone occupant, and that Mr. Showers
utilized the vehicle to the exclusion of others demonstrates to this

Court that Mr. Showers had dominion and control over this

vehicle. Mr. Showers had sufficient dominion and control to be in

possession of the contents therein including the controlled
substances found therein.

5

By contrast, evidence is sufficient to show possession of a firearm when the defendant (a)
owns the vehicle in which the gun is found, (b) is the sole occupant, and (c) was found seated
next to the gun. State v. Bowen, 157 Wn. App. 821, 239 P.3d 1114 (2010).
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Finding of Fact No. 20, CP 8. Based on this, the judge concluded that

Mr. Showers unlawfully possessed heroin with intent to deliver and that he

possessed methamphetamine. Conclusions of Law 4 and 5, CP 9.

The court's findings do not support the conclusion that Mr.

Showers possessed the controlled substances found in the vehicle.

Shumaker, 142 Wn. App. at 334.

First, the court erred by concluding that dominion and control over

the vehicle was sufficient to establish possession of its contents.' Id. As

Shumaker makes clear, dominion and control over a vehicle is inadequate

to demonstrate dominion and control over drugs found inside the vehicle.

Id. Here, the drugs were found in the bed of the truck some time after Mr.

Showers had abandoned it. Findings of Fact 14 -16, CP 7 -8. There was no

evidence that Mr. Showers owned the vehicle. Police did not take

fingerprints from the drugs' packaging, the other paraphernalia, or the

backpacks in which they were found. Nothing inside the backpacks linked

them or their contents to Mr. Showers. Furthermore, another person had

6 The court's findings also indicate that "Any finding which is more
appropriately a conclusion is adopted as such." Finding of Fact 22, CP 8. Here, the
statement that Mr. Showers "had sufficient dominion and control to be in possession of
the contents" of the vehicle is more appropriately a conclusion of law.

The court found that "Mr. Showers had sufficient dominion and control [over the vehicle]
to be in possession of the contents." Finding No. 20, CP 8.
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been in the truck during the period preceding the search. Finding of Fact

2, CP 5 -6.

Second, the court failed to find that Mr. Showers could have

reduced the drugs to actual possession. Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. at 899.

The controlled substances were found inside a container, which was found

inside a closed backpack, which was found in the bed of the truck that Mr.

Showers was driving. Finding of Fact 16, CP 8. There is no way that Mr.

Showers could have reduced the drugs to actual possession while driving.

Chouinard, 169 Wn. App. at 899.

Finally, the other facts the court relied to establish possession —

the circumstances of the elude [sic], flight from the vehicle, manor [sic]

in which the vehicle was controlled" — are irrelevant to establishing

dominion and control over the drugs. Finding of Fact 20, CP 8. The court

may have intended this finding to suggest that Mr. Showers fled because

he was conscious of his own guilt; however, the evidence showed that he

had an active DOC warrant when he was arrested, giving him other reason

to avoid police contact. RP 8 -9.

The court's findings of fact do not support the conclusion that Mr.

Shower's possessed the drugs in the bed of the truck. Chouinard, 169 Wn.

App. at 899. Mr. Showers' drug- related convictions must be reversed for

insufficient evidence. Id.
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II. THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH OF THE BACKPACKS FOUND IN THE

TRUCK BED VIOLATED MR. SHOWERS' RIGHTS UNDER ART. I, § 7.

A. Standard of Review.

The validity of a warrantless search is reviewed de novo. State v.

Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 761, 767, 224 P.3d 751 (2009). An unconstitutional

search can be a manifest error affecting a constitutional right raised for the

first time on appeal. State v. Swetz, 160 Wn. App. 122, 128 -29, 247 P.3d

802 (2011); RAP 2.5(a)(3).

B. A warrantless search is impermissible unless authorized by one of
the carefully -drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement.

Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable under the

Washington State Constitution. Wash. const. art. I, § 7; State v. Snapp,

174 Wn.2d 177, 187 -88, 275 P.3d 289 (2012). The exceptions to the

warrant requirement are "carefully drawn," and the state bears the burden

of establishing facts that support any purported exception. Snapp, 174

Wn.2d at 188.

The privacy protections under the state constitution are

qualitatively different from those under the Fourth Amendment. Snapp,

174 Wn.2d at 187. Art. I, § 7 recognizes a privacy interest in vehicles and

their contents. Id. Additionally, a "container" such as a purse, suitcase, or
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backpack may not be search without a warrant. State v. Rison, 116 Wn.

App. 955, 959 -60, 69 P.3d 362 (2003).

1. The search of the backpacks cannot be justified as a search
incident to arrest.

In limited circumstances, a vehicle may be searched incident to the

arrest of its driver. This exception to the warrant requirement applies only

when, at the time of the search, the arrestee's proximity to the vehicle

poses a safety risk or a risk that evidence within the vehicle could be

concealed or destroyed. Snapp, 174 Wn.2d at 189. The scope of the

search is limited to the area within the arrestee's reach at the time of the

search. Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 343, 129 S.Ct. 1710, 173 L.Ed.2d

485 (2009).

Mr. Showers was already in custody and seated in a police cruiser

when Tolliver searched the truck and its contents. Finding of Fact 15, CP

7 -8; RP 65. At that point, Mr. Showers posed no safety risk and was

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