No. 43996-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM SHOWERS,

Appellant.

Pacific County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00114-4
The Honorable Michael J. Sullivan

STATE'S REPLY BRIEF

David J. Burke Pacific County Prosecutor By, Mark McClain Chief Deputy Prosecutor

Pacific County Prosecuting Attorney's Office P.O. Box 45 South Bend, WA 98586

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

The evidence, and inferences drawn from the evidence, is supported by the record and the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law.¹

Appellant seems to request that all inferences should be drawn against the trial court's findings, asserting error in the underlying findings of fact and outlining the number of perceived deficiencies or alternate theories. However, as *Walton*, *supra*, indicates the persuasiveness of the evidence presented at trial is left to the trier of fact. Here, it is evident from the conclusions of law and the record below that the trial court was persuaded Mr. Showers had dominion and control over the heroin and methamphetamine and rendered a verdict accordingly.²

II. WARRANTLESS SEARCH IS UNTIMELY ASSERTED, YET THE SEARCH WAS PERMISSIBLE.

A. Standard of review.

¹ Findings of fact which are conclusions of law will be interpreted as conclusions of law. *Ridgeview Properties v. Starbucks*, 96 Wash.2d 716, 638 P.2d 1231(1982).

² Appellate takes issue with the findings, yet the record supports the ultimate conclusion of law and any deficiency in the actual finding is harmless. Insufficiency of findings of fact and conclusions of law from a bench trial is subject to a harmless error analysis. *State v. Banks*, 149 Wash.2d 38, 43, 65 P.3d 1198 (2003). An error is harmless when it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained. *State v. Brown*, 147 Wash.2d 330, 341, 58 P.3d 889 (2002).

For the first time on appeal, Mr. Showers assigns error to the search of the backpacks located in the bed of his vehicle. A party must raise an issue at trial to preserve the issue for appeal, unless the party can show the presence of a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." State v. Fenwick, 164 Wash.App. 392, 398, 264 P.3d 284 (2011), quoting State v. Robinson, 171 Wash.2d 292, 304, 253 P.3d 84 (2011) (further quoting State v. Kirwin, 165 Wash.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009)). "The constitutional error exception is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can identify a constitutional issue not litigated below." Id. citing State v. Kirkpatrick, 160 Wash.2d 873, 879, 161 P.3d 990 (2007) (quoting State v. Scott, 110 Wash.2d 682, 687, 757 P.2d 492(1988)).

Appellant suggests that *State v. Swetz*, 160 Wn. App. 122, 247 P.3d 802 (2011) provides the basis to raise this issue for the first time on appeal; however, *Fenwick*, *supra*, disagreed with the Appellant's assertion and the state requests this court not review this matter as untimely asserted.

B. The Search of Mr. Showers' property was a lawful search by his Community Corrections Officer.

Because this matter was not raised below, the record does not lend itself to a significant review of factors known to Mr. Showers' trial

counsel or information the State could have brought to further justify the search, including exigent circumstances or officer safety; however, as noted in Appellant's Brief at page 17, Mr. Showers was on Community Custody and Department of Corrections Community Corrections Officer, Linda Tolliver, conducted a search of Mr. Showers' backpacks following his flight from police and abandonment of the vehicle in the middle of the road.

Citing *State v. Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d 177, 275 P.3d 289 (2012), Appellant asserts the warrantless search of the vehicle is impermissible; however, Mr. Showers has a lesser expectation of privacy as a result of his community custody status. *State v. Lucas*, 56 Wash.App. 236, 239–40, 783 P.2d 121 (1989), *review denied*, 114 Wash.2d 1009, 790 P.2d 167 (1990)(Washington law recognizes that probationers and parolees have a diminished right of privacy which permits a warrantless search based on probable cause).

As noted in *State v. Parris*, 163 Wash. App. 110, 118-19, 259 P.3d 331 (2011):

RCW 9.94A.631 authorizes a warrant exception for a CCO to search a probationer's residence and "other personal property" when the CCO has reasonable cause to believe probationer has violated release conditions. *State v. Massey*, 81 Wash.App. 198, 199, 913 P.2d 424 (1996). A warrantless search of parolee or probationer is reasonable if an officer has well-founded suspicion that a violation has

occurred. *Massey*, 81 Wash.App. at 200, 913 P.2d 424. Analogous to the requirements of a *Terry* stop [citation omitted], reasonable suspicion requires specific and articulable facts and rational inferences. *Simms*, 10 Wash.App. at 87, 516 P.2d 1088. "Articulable suspicion" is defined as a substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur. *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wash.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

Once the Community Corrections Officer had reasonable grounds to suspect that Mr. Showers had violated the terms of his release, the search was valid.

Appellant further asserts that there must be a nexus between the probation violation and the backpacks before a search is permissible. Appellant's Brief at 17. The search need not be particularized or limited by scope. *Parris* 163 Wash. App. at 122, citing *U.S. v. Conway*, 122 F.3d 841, 843 (9th Cir.1997)(It does not matter whether the community corrections officers believed they would find evidence or contraband. Washington law does not require that the search be necessary to confirm the suspicion of impermissible activity, or that it ceases once the suspicion has been confirmed).

Here, Mr. Showers was identified by police officers and was in the process of committing a felony, which is a violation of his community

custody.³ The vehicle which was searched was identified as Mr. Showers and he had been in exclusive control of the vehicle prior to his flight from the vehicle.⁴ There was, at a minimum, probable cause to believe Mr. Showers had committed a violation of his release and was in possession of the vehicle which was searched.

For the foregoing reasons, the State urges this Court not to grant review of the search as untimely, and, if the Court does review the search, find the search lawful.

III. EVIDENCE WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED.

A. Standard of review.

A party may assign evidentiary error on appeal only on a specific ground made at trial. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wash.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S.Ct. 1208, 89 L.Ed.2d 321 (1986). This objection gives a trial court the opportunity to prevent or cure error. *State v. Boast*, 87 Wash.2d 447, 451, 553 P.2d 1322 (1976). Only

 $^{^3}$ Mr. Showers also had DOC warrant for violation of a condition of probation, for, among other things, failure to comply with treatment. RP (9/14/12) 9, RP (9/21/12) 5.

⁴ DOC CCO Tolliver conducted the search of Mr. Showers' belongings following his arrest on the DOC warrant and the felony charge. Further, Deputy Ryan Tully was involved in the apprehension of Mr. Showers was a former CCO who had supervised Mr. Showers and knew Mr. Showers and the woman in the vehicle were frequent drug users together. RP (9/14/12) 10.

issues of manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). Admission of witness opinion testimony on an ultimate fact, without objection, is not automatically reviewable as a 'manifest' constitutional error. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wash.2d, 918, 936, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). To determine whether statements are impermissible opinion testimony, reviewing courts consider the circumstances of a case, including, (1) "the type of witness involved," (2) "the specific nature of the testimony," (3) "the nature of the charges," (4) "the type of defense," and (5) "the other evidence before the trier of fact." Id. at 298.

"Testimony that is not a direct comment on the defendant's guilt or on the veracity of a witness, is otherwise helpful to the jury, and is based on inferences from the evidence is not improper opinion testimony." State v. Lewellyn, 78 Wash.App.788, 895 P.2d 418 (1995), citing Seattle v. Heatley, 70 Wash.App. 573, 854 P.2d 658 (1993), review denied, 123 Wash.2d 1011, 869 P.2d 1085 (1994)(Lay witnesses also may give opinions or inferences based upon rational perceptions that help the jury understand the witness's testimony and that are not based upon scientific or specialized knowledge. ER 701. A lay person's observation of intoxication is an example of a permissible lay opinion); see also State v. Baird, 83 Wn.App. 477, 485, 922 P.2d 157 (1996). On the contrary, lay

witnesses are not entitled to testify, without more specialized training, on a defendant's state of mind. *State v. Farr-Lenzini*, 93 Wash.App. 453, 970 P.2d 313 (1999)(trooper testified that the person driving that vehicle was attempting to get away from me and knew I was back there and refusing to stop). Trial courts are afforded broad discretion to determine the admissibility of ultimate issue testimony. *Heatley*, 70 Wn.App. at 579.

Even if this evidence were inadmissible, other admissible evidence may outweigh any prejudice as to render the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence harmless. *State v. Thompson*, 90 Wah.App. 41, 950 P.2d 977 (1998)(upholding a conviction for reckless driving where the officer testified the driving was reckless and the trial court had granted defendant's motion in limine to exclude the officer's opinion). This is particularly true in a bench trial. In a bench trial, there is even a more "liberal practice in the admission of evidence" on the theory that the court will disregard inadmissible matters. *State v. Jenkins*, 53 Wash.App. 228, 766 P.2d 499 (1989), citing *State v. Miles*, 77 Wash.2d 593, 601, 464 P.2d 723 (1970). Moreover, even if a trial court's decision to admit certain evidence is in error, i.e., an abuse of discretion, an appellant must still demonstrate that the error was prejudicial. *Jenkins*, 53 Wash.App. at 231, citing *State v. Robtoy*, 98 Wash.2d 30, 44, 653 P.2d 284 (1982).

B. Testimony was properly admitted.

Testimony which is not a direct comment on the defendant's guilt or on the veracity of a witness, is otherwise helpful to the jury, and is based on inferences from the evidence is not improper opinion testimony and therefore admissible. *Cf Lewellyn, supra*; *State v. Demery*, 144 Wash.2d 753, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001).

Here, Mr. Showers was charged with attempting to elude a police vehicle, which requires, among other things, proof that Mr. Showers failed to stop for pursing police officers and in doing so drove recklessly. The officer's testimony described Mr. Showers' driving, but the mere fact that someone drove 50 or 60 MPH in a 25 MPH zone does not, without more, assist the trier of fact in determining whether the driving was also reckless. Police officers have specialized training in the rules of the road, operations of motor vehicles on the roads and what constitutes safe driving. Furthermore, the officer's testimony outlined the conduct, and then qualified the driving based on the conduct. This is not unlike other permissible testimony such as cases involving impaired driving. A driver may have alcohol on their system, yet not be intoxicated; in those cases an officer is permitted to describe their observations of the driver, explain the test conducted and the driver's performance, and may, permissibly, state

that a defendant was impaired. *State v. Baity*, 140 Wash.2d 1, 18, 991 P.2d 1151 (2000).

Because the evidence admitted in this case did not invade the province of the jury in determining whether Mr. Showers both drove recklessly while attempting to elude police officers, it was not improper ultimate issue testimony which was properly admitted.

IV. MR. SHOWERS RECEIVED EFFECTIVE COUNSEL.

A. Standard of review.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of fact and law which is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Sutherby*, 165 Wash.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

B. Trial counsel was not ineffective when he declined to raise an unsupported claim or failed to object to admissible testimony.

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must make two showings: (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient, *i.e.*, it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances; and (2) defense counsel's deficient representation prejudiced the defendant, *i.e.*, there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *State v. McFarland*, 127

Wash.2d 322, 334, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995), citing *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wash.2d 222, 225–26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (applying the 2–prong test in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)).

There is a strong presumption counsel's representation was effective. State v. Brett, 126 Wash.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995); Thomas, 109 Wash.2d at 226, 743 P.2d 816. Because the presumption runs in favor of effective representation, the defendant must show in the record the absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons supporting the challenged conduct by counsel. State v. Garrett, 124 Wash.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994) (defense counsel's legitimate trial strategy or tactics cannot be the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot be sustained without demonstration of actual prejudice. McFarland, 127 Wash.2d at 334. It is not per se deficient representation for failure to move for suppression of evidence obtained following warrantless arrest. Id.

Here, Appellant asserts Mr. Showers' trial counsel was deficient for failure to seek suppression. Appellant's Brief at 23. As noted above, the evidence gathered above was not subject to suppression as a result of Mr. Showers' community custody status. Further, there are a number of reasons that suppression was not supported, including community

caretaking, exigent circumstances and abandonment. Additionally, an inventory of the vehicle would have been required under the circumstances and would have revealed the heroin and methamphetamine.

As a result, it cannot be said that Mr. Showers' trial counsel was deficient.

Appellant further seeks to declare trial counsel's performance deficient for failing to object to certain testimony. Appellant's Brief at 24. As noted above, the evidence was admissible, and even if it was not, trial counsel objected and the decision not to further object was tactical. Certainly repeated objections have an impact, even if they are sustained. Regardless, Appellant has failed to demonstrate the outcome would have been different but for any perceived deficiency.

As a result, Mr. Showers has failed to demonstrate a deficiency or actual prejudice.

V. MR. SHOWERS KNOWINGLY, INTELLIGENTLY, AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL.

A. Standard of review.

Waiver of a right to a jury trial is reviewed *de novo*. State v. Ramirez-Dominguez, 140 Wash.App. 233, 165 P.3d 391 (2007), citing State v. Treat, 109 Wash.App. 419, 427, 35 P.3d 1192 (2001). Findings of fact are not disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Estrella,

115 Wash.2d 350, 355, 798 P.2d 289 (1990) (citing *State v. Pennington*, 112 Wash.2d 606, 608, 772 P.2d 1009 (1989)). Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal. *Morris v. Woodside*, 101 Wash.2d 812, 815, 682 P.2d 905 (1984).

B. A defendant may waive his right to a jury trial and the record supports the trial court's findings that Mr. Showers made a knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver of his right to a jury trial.

Appellant, essentially, asserts that a defendant may not waive his right to a jury trial. Appellant's Brief at 28. Appellant further seeks to overrule the recently affirmed jury trial waiver case of *State v. Benitez*, 302 P.3d 877 (2013) and *State v. Pierce*, 134 Wn. App. 763, 142 P.3d 610 (2006), both upholding a waiver of a jury trial. Appellant's brief at 35.

Washington law allows a defendant to waive a jury trial. State v. Stegall, 124 Wash.2d 719, 723, 881 P.2d 979 (1994). The waiver may be made either in writing or orally, provided that, upon review, the record is sufficient to determine that the defendant's waiver is knowingly, intelligently, voluntarily and free from improper influences. Id. Defense counsel's representation that defendant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily relinquished his jury trial rights is also relevant. State v. Downs, 36 Wash.App. 143, 146, 672 P.2d 416 (1983). What little is required to uphold a defendant's request to waive his right to a jury trial

can be noted in *State v. Forza*, 70 Wash.2d 69, 422 P.2d 69 (1966)(arguing the waiver of a jury trial is unconstitutional):

The Court: Do I understand that the defendant has waived his right to a jury trial?

Mr. Alfieri [Defendant's counsel]: That is right. I might inform the court, for the record, that he understands this is a constitutional right that he has and that I have discussed it with him and also discussed what I thought the strategy should be in relation to the defense to be interposed here and on that basis we will waive the jury.

Id. Forza (upholding the waiver based on the above) quoted State v. Lane,40 Wash.2d 734, 736, 246 P.2d 474 (1952):

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